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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 26.1, Plaintiff New Jersey Peace
Action makes the following disclosures:

1. Is party a publicly held corporation or other publicly held entity?
No.
2. Does party have any parent corporation?

New Jersey Peace Action is affiliated with Peace Action, which is
headquartered in Washington, D.C.

3. Is 10% or more of the stock of party owned by a publicly held corporation
or other publicly held entity?

No.

4, Is there any other publicly held corporation or other publicly held entity that
has a direct financial interest in the outcome of the litigation?

No.
3. Is party a trade association?

No.
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STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER AND APPELLATE
JURISDICTION

The District Court had jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 2201-2202
in that Plaintiffs’ claims arise under the United States Constitution, Article I, § 8,
Clause 11 and the Fifth Amendment.
This appeal was filed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §12910n June 19, 2009 (A1l-
A2), within 60 days of the District Court’s dismissal Order of May 15, 2009 (A4),
as provided by Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1)(B).
STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
(1) Whether the trial court erred in dismissing the Amended Complaint
pursuant to the “political question” doctrine?
(a) Whether the clear intent of the Framers of the Constitution in
Article I, §8, Clause 11 was to establish a procedure whereby the
power to Declare War was the exclusive domain of Congress and

thereby satisfies the requirement of Baker v. Carr that there be a

textual commitment of a power to a specific branch other than the
Executive?
(b) Whether the Framers’ intent to assign to Congress the exclusive

power to launch an all-out war against a sovereign nation satisfies the
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requirement of Baker v. Carr that there be “judicially discoverable

standards” for judicial determination?

(c) Whether the October 2002 Congressional Authorization to Use
Military Force (AUMF) Against Iraq “as he [the President]
determines to be necessary and appropriate” constituted a Declaration
of War sufficient to satisfy the constitutionally required procedure for
invading a sovereign nation six months later?

(2) Whether the District court erred in dismissing the Amended Complaint
on the ground that none of Plaintiffs had standing to seek a Declaratory Judgment
that the decision of President George W. Bush to invade the sovereign nation of
Iraq violated Article 1, §8, Clause 11 of the United States Constitution?

(a) Whether the Nation’s Founders intended the Declare War Clause
of the Constitution to be unenforceable by those it was meant to
protect from the Executive’s abuse of power; or whether, as

Alexander Hamilton wrote in The Federalist No. 78, the judiciary

must be available to protect the people from such abuse?
(b) Whether the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §2201, allows a
court to issue a declaration where an important public issue is at stake

and the issue is capable of repetition but consistently evades review?
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(c) Whether Plaintiffs have standing to enforce the Declaration of
War Clause by virtue of the injuries they have suffered as taxpayers,
voters, through lost opportunity costs?
(d) Whether Plaintiff Wheeler, an Iraq War veteran who was
honorably discharged for medical reasons but subject to recall at the
time of the filing of the Amended Complaint, has standing to
challenge the order of the President to invade the sovereign nation of
Iraq in the absence of a congressional Declaration of War?
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Plaintiffs — New Jersey Peace Action, a non-profit nuclear disarmament and
anti-war advocacy organization; William Joseph Wheeler, an Iraq war veteran
subject to recall by the Army; and Paula Rogovin and Anna Berlinrut, taxpayers
and mothers of sons serving in the U.S. Armed Forces and deployed to Iraq — filed
an Amended Complaint seeking a Declaratory Judgment that the decision of
President George W. Bush to invade the sovereign nation of Iraq without a
congressional Declaration of War violated Article I, §8, Clause 11 of the United
States Constitution. The Complaint seeks no coercive relief against the President
and does not ask the court to intervene in any way with the hostilities in Iraq.

The Complaint relies on a detailed description of the record of the
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Constitutional Convention of June 1, 1787 to show that the Framers of the
Constitution were adamant that the Executive not be allowed to take the Nation to
war (as the British monarch was allowed), and assigned the power to Declare War
exclusively to Congress.

The United States government filed a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12(b)(1) and (6) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and failure to state a
claim on which relief can be granted.

Subsequent to the filing of an Amended Complaint, which added war
veteran Wheeler as a Plaintiff, the District Court held a hearing on the motion to
dismiss in May 2009, after Barack Obama had succeeded George W. Bush as
President.

On May 19, 2009, the Honorable Jose L. Linares issued an Opinion
dismissing the Complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, (AS5), holding that
Plaintiffs lacked standing to bring the case and that the suit constituted a “political
question.” The Court filed an Amended Opinion on June 2, 2009, (AS5), making
only a technical change. Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on June 16, 2009. (Al-

2).
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

The immediate facts which gave rise to this Complaint were the orders
given by the President of the United States, George W. Bush, to invade the
sovereign nation of Iraq in March, 2003.

The President claimed that his action had been authorized by a resolution
adopted by Congress and signed into law on October 16, 2002, entitled
Authorization to Use Military Force Against Iraq (the AUMF). Pub. L. No. 107-
243,116 Stat. 1498 (2002). The resolution authorized the President “to use the
armed forces of the United States as he determines to be necessary and
appropriate in order to (1) defend the national security of the United States
against the continuing threat posed by Iraq; and (2) enforce all United Nations
Security Council resolutions regarding Iraq.” Id. at 1501 (emphasis added). It
included no limits as to duration, manner, or place and contained no sunset
provision.

President Bush, in a televised speech on March 17, 2003, gave Saddam
Hussein 48 hours to go into exile or face war. Hussein rejected that demand; and
on March 19, 2003, President Bush ordered United States armed forces to
commence hostilities against [raq with the avowed aim of causing “regime

change.”
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As of the date of the Amended Complaint, the United States continued
military action in Iraq although the Hussein regime had been deposed and a
government friendly to the U.S. had been installed.

There has never been a Declaration of War by Congress against Iraq.

Plaintiffs allege numerous injuries flowing from the President’s violation of
fundamental constitutional procedural requirements when he launched an all-out
war in Iraq that Congress did not declare.

Plaintiffs Paula Rogovin and Anna Berlinrut are citizens of the United
States, and residents of New Jersey. They are both spokespersons for their
individual county chapters of Military Families Speak Out, and have sons in the
United States Marine Corps who have completed multiple tours of duty in Iraq. As
registered New Jersey voters, they were deprived of the opportunity to have their
elected representatives vote on the public record for or against going to war in
Iraq, as provided in Article, 1, §5 of the Constitution. As mothers, they suffered
emotional, physical, and psychological injury arising from concerns for the
soldiers fighting in Iraq, including their sons. Instead of pursuing political
activism, educating their community, gardening, publishing books, and nurturing
their sons, they suffered lost “opportunity costs” in having to redirect their time

and financial resources opposing the war. As taxpayers, these mothers were
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compelled to pay taxes for a war they adamantly opposed.

Plaintiff William Joseph Wheeler is a citizen of the United States and
resides in Windsor, California. He served in the United States Army from May 23,
2001 until his Honorable Discharge on January 5, 2004, as a result of a “physical
condition not a disability.” He served in Iraq from March to November 2003. At
the time the complaint was filed, he was subject to recall to active duty. As an
active-duty soldier, Wheeler was directly affected and harmed by having to obey
orders to fight in a war that he believed was unconstitutional. He suffered physical
injuries from hostile nightly sniper fire and mortar rounds in his camp, as well as
other emotional, psychological, and physical affects arising from the ordeal of
combat in an all-out war.

Plaintiff New Jersey Peace Action (NJPA) is a New Jersey non-profit
membership corporation. NJPA has promoted nuclear disarmament and peaceful
alternatives to war for over fifty years. The invasion of Iraq has directly caused
injury to NJPA and to its members by imposing a great “opportunity cost” upon
the organization because it had to divert its financial resources and staff opposing
the war rather than promoting its primary mission of nuclear disarmament. In
addition, NJPA’s members were deprived of the opportunity to have their

congressional representatives on public record vote for or against going to war in
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Iraq, and its members and contributors were compelled to pay tax dollars for an
unconstitutional war that they opposed.

Further, as “the People of the United States,” Plaintiffs are all citizens who
revere and honor the United States Constitution and the ideals that the Founders
intended the document to preserve. Thus, the desecration and violation of the
Constitution has caused Plaintiffs to suffer great upset and disappointment in the
government to which they commit and dedicate their energy, motivation, and
hearts.

The remaining facts relevant to this case are historical facts regarding the
adoption of the United States Constitution, especially Article I, §8, Clause 11.
Those facts are intertwined with the issue of whether this case involves a “political
question” and will be discussed in relation thereto.

STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES OR PROCEEDINGS

There are no pending cases or proceedings related to this appeal.

STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

This Court has a plenary, 1.e. de novo, standard of review over the District
Court’s dismissal of the Amended Complaint. The factual allegations of the
Amended Complaint must be accepted as true unless no construction of those facts

could “conceivabl[y]” lead to liability on the part of the Defendant. See Ashcroft
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v. Igbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937 (2009).
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case should be remanded to the District Court to determine whether the
national government properly followed the constitutional procedure articulated by
the Framers when the United States launches an all-out war against another
sovereign nation. Those instructions appear in Article 1, §8, Clause 11, the
Declare War Clause. That clause, on its face, assigns exclusively to Congress the
power to Declare War. No court since the 19" Century has looked at the full
proceedings of the Constitutional Convention of 1787 as to the meaning of Article
I, §8, Clause 11. Specifically, the proceedings of the Constitutional Convention on
June 1, 1787 provide overwhelming evidence that the Founders did not vest the
unitary Executive with the power to take the Nation to war.

The principle that only Congress can declare an all-out foreign war was well
settled in the 19" Century. However, it has unfortunately been ignored by the
federal courts since World War II. Since then, the courts have developed various
avoidance doctrines to shield Presidents from judicial review of their decisions to
risk the Nation’s blood and treasure in foreign military actions despite the
seemingly clear intent of the Founders to prevent a single person from exercising

such awesome monarchical powers.
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The District Court never addressed the constitutional merits in dismissing
the Amended Complaint, while erroneously suggesting that the Constitution

299

assigned “joint power-sharing arrangements as to ‘war powers’” between
Congress and the Executive. (A19). Assuming the Court was including within the
concept of “war powers” the decision to launch a war, the District Court was
incorrect.

Plaintiffs sought a Declaratory Judgment on the constitutionality of
President Bush’s decision to invade Iraq in 2003. The action was dismissed by the
Honorable Jose L. Linares on a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction. Judge Linares based his ruling both on lack of standing
and “political question” grounds. Both of those issues should have been examined
in light of the undisputed facts involving the adoption of Article I, §8, Clause 11
of the Constitution and the allocation of the war powers by the Nation’s Founders
between Congress and the President.

The facts relevant to both the issue of political question and standing
involve the intent of the Framers in structuring the means by which the Nation
could go to war as revealed in the annals of the Constitutional Convention of

1787, and especially the debate of June 1, 1787.

No federal appellate court has heretofore examined the records of June 1,

10
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1787; the leading case that considered the history of the adoption of the Declare

War clause by the Constitutional Convention, Massachusetts v. Laird, 451 F.2d 26

(1st Cir. 1971), ignored the June 1 debate altogether. As a result, the Court erred in
examining the history of Article 1, §8, Clause 11. That error was compounded
when other federal courts followed that decision without independently analyzing
the records of the Constitutional Convention. Those decisions are not based on an
accurate analysis of constitutional history.

That history shows that the Founders deliberately stripped the Executive of
the power to take the Nation to war against a sovereign nation without a
Congressional Declaration. The District Court erred in ruling that Plaintiffs’

Complaint was non-justiciable under the first two factors of Baker v. Carr, 369

U.S. 186 (1962): “the textual commitment of the issue to a coordinate political
branch and the lack of judicially discoverable standards for resolving it.” (A18).
Under the historical facts alleged by Plaintiffs, there is a clear textual commitment
of the power to Declare War to Congress alone and the standard is unambiguous
and easily enforced. This history was clearly understood by the Supreme Court in
cases throughout the Nineteenth Century.

Nor can the Congressional Authorization for the Use of Military Force in

Iraq (AUMF) passed in October 2002, authorizing the President to use the Armed

11
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Forces of the United States as he deems to be necessary and appropriate, satisfy
the requirement for a congressional declaration. It was, at most, an unauthorized
delegation of congressional power which allowed Congress to avoid its
constitutional responsibility. Moreover, through the AUMF and its repeated
appropriations for the war in Iraq, Congress has violated both the People’s right
under Article 1, §5 of the Constitution to know how their representatives would
have voted on the decision to go to war with Iraq and the People’s right, Article 1,
§8 as taxpayers to not have money appropriated for spending that violates a
constitutional prohibition.

Neither can adjudication of this case be avoided on “standing” grounds. The
core issue of what procedures Article I, §8, Clause 11 requires the Executive and
Legislative branches to adhere to before committing the Nation to war is properly
brought by Plaintiffs, by virtue of the cognizable injuries they have alleged
personally and as citizens and taxpayers. Also, they are the people who separated
the powers and explicitly delegated and limited the war-making power to the
requirements of a Declaration of War:

There is no position that depends on clearer principles, than that

every act of a delegated authority, contrary to the tenor of the

commission under which it is exercised, is void. . . . To deny this

would be to affirm that the deputy is greater than his principal; . . .
that the representatives of the people are superior to the people

12
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themselves; that men acting by virtue of powers may do not only what
their powers do not authorize, but what they forbid.

The Federalist No. 78 (Alexander Hamilton).

“[IIn order to form a more perfect union,” the People of the United States
chose to chain “the dog of war” by requiring Congress to Declare War. Surely, the
People, who delegated that authority, have the right to enforce the limitations that
they placed upon it. Without such standing, Article I, §8 Clause 11 is meaningless.
Plaintiffs are surely an appropriate group of the People of the United States to be
granted standing to determine whether the Executive exceeded the authority that
has been delegated to it by launching the war in Iraq. They include a soldier who
was injured as part of the first wave of attack in Iraq; a non-profit organization that
found itself forced to re-direct its resources from its core goal of seeking the
abolition of nuclear weapons to activism against the war in Iraq; and two citizens
who have been unable to pursue other activities because they have devoted
themselves to the cause of opposing the war at substantial economic and emotional

costs to themselves and as taxpayers. If not they, who?

13
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ARGUMENT

L. THIS CASE DOES NOT RAISE A POLITICAL QUESTION
BECAUSE THE CONSTITUTION COMMITS THE POWER
TO DECLARE WAR TO CONGRESS ALONE, AND THE
JUNE 1, 1787 DEBATE AT THE CONSTITUTIONAL
CONVENTION PROVIDES A JUDICIALLY MANAGEABLE
STANDARD THAT A COURT CAN USE TO DETERMINE
WHAT PROCEDURES MUST BE FOLLOWED TO TAKE
THE NATION TO WAR

The test for finding a non-justiciable political question is set forth in Baker
v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 217 (1962). The two key considerations are whether the
Constitution assigns a power to a particular branch of government and whether the
provision can be enforced through judicially discoverable standards. Id. The
District Court erred in ruling that Plaintiffs’ claim was non-justiciable pursuant to
those factors. (A18).

The Constitution assigns the power to Declare War to Congress, and on this
narrow issue, there is no constitutional ground to conclude, as the District Court
did, (A19), that the political branches share any form of joint authority. U.S.
Const. Art. I, §8, Cl. 11. Although the Constitution does assign the power to
Declare War to a particular branch, it is not that branch which took the Nation to

war in Iraq. Thus, Baker does not prohibit the judiciary from deciding this case as

a “political question.” Rather, it requires judicial intervention to say what the

14
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Constitution means. Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137, 177 (1803).

During the June 1, 1787 debate at the Constitutional Convention, the
Founders emphatically determined that the Executive should not have the power to
take the Nation to war. They were adamant that offensive military operations
against other nations would require a Congressional declaration prior to
commencement. This determination also provides a judicially manageable
standard which, coupled with the Constitution’s commitment to grant Congress
solely the power to Declare War, makes it clear that the political question doctrine
should not bar review of this case and a court can determine whether proper
procedures were followed by the national government in going to war in Iragq.

A.  The Constitution Assigns the Power to Declare War to Congress

Alone and the District Court Erred in Assuming that the
President and Congress Shared This Power Jointly

This case presents the question of which branch of government has the
authority to take the Nation to war. The lower court erred by classifying the war
power as one jointly exercised by Congress and the President:

First, “the Constitution commits the entire foreign policy power of

this country to the executive and legislative branches.” Atlee v. Laird,

347 F. Supp. 689, 694 (E.D. Pa. 1972). . .. Thus, while Congress
retains the power to declare war . . . the President is commander-in-

chief of the armed forces. . . . The two branches share the broad array
of war powers, and the Constitution allows them to work out disputes
themselves.

15



Case: 09-2781 Document: 00319899931 Page: 26  Date Filed: 11/12/2009

(A18-19). In coming to this conclusion, the Court essentially erred by relying on

Massachusetts v. Laird, 451 F. 2d. at 34, to classify the war power as one jointly

exercised by Congress and the President. (A20). The present case is

distinguishable from Massachusetts v. Laird and its progeny because the war in

Iraq involved an offensive invasion of a sovereign nation. The Vietnam War,

which the Massachusetts v. Laird opinion addressed, began with an invitation by

the South Vietnamese government for aid in resisting an invasion by North
Vietnam, and the escalation of forces and hostilities was gradual through the

1950's and 1960's. Thus, Massachusetts v. Laird did not examine the question of

who should declare war and what circumstances require such a declaration; it only
held that in situations of limited war, presidential and legislative authority
becomes blurred “because the branches are not in opposition [and] there is no
necessity of determining boundaries.” Id.

This case, however, does not involve a broad array of war powers or a broad
foreign policy dispute that can be resolved politically. It involves only the
constitutional question of what circumstances require a congressional Declaration
and what procedures the national government must take before it commits the

Nation to war. As one court noted in finding this narrow issue to be justiciable,
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“the court is not prepared to read out of the Constitution the clause granting to the

Congress, and to it alone, the authority ‘to declare war.”” Dellums v. Bush, 752 F.

Supp. 1141, 1146 (D.D.C. 1990). Cases like Massachusetts v. Laird, are simply

not on point in regards to this issue. Moreover, as will be discussed infra,

Massachusetts v. Laird completely ignored the Constitutional Convention

proceedings of June 1, 1787, and as a result, misconstrued the intent of the
Founders. While the Constitution does assign the Declare War power to Congress,
it is not the branch that ordered the invasion of Iraq. Thus, this case is outside the
constraints of the “political question” doctrine.

If a federal court determines that the facts of this case constitute a situation
where a Declaration of War was required and that the Executive usurped that
power, it must rule that the President’s decision to invade Iraq was without
constitutional authority. This interpretive task is firmly within the domain of the
judiciary. Marbury, 5 U.S. at 177.

B. When a War Against a Sovereign Nation Requires a

Congressional Declaration, Article I, §8, Clause 11 Provides a

Judicially Manageable Standard Which Satisfies Baker v. Carr
and Allows Judicial Decision

The second criteria of Baker provides that a political question exists if there

is “a lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving it.”
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369 U.S. at 217. The discussion at the Constitutional Convention provides a court
with such a standard. The portion of that discussion which occurred on June 1,
1787 makes clear that the Founders rejected the British monarchical model that
allowed a unitary executive to shed the Nation’s blood and treasure. Instead, the
Delegates concluded that a only a Declaration by Congress could take the Nation
to war. Weighed against the concerns articulated in the Founders’ discussions at
the Constitutional Convention, a court can then determine whether the proper
constitutional procedure was followed before the U.S. invaded Iraq. Therefore, a
political question does not exist under the second prong of Baker.

1. An examination of the history of the Constitutional Convention
reveals that all the Delegates who spoke on June 1, 1787 opposed
giving the President the power to take the Nation to war

At the outset, the Convention agreed to use the Virginia Plan as a starting

point. On June 1, 1787, the Delegates at the Constitutional Convention examined
the portion of the Virginia Plan which would create the new office of the
executive. The language of the provision read:

Resolved that a national executive be instituted; to be chosen by the

national legislature; . . . and that besides a general authority to

execute the national laws, it ought to enjoy the executive rights vested
in Congress by the confederation.'

: The Records of the Federal Convention of 1787, Vol. I, 62-63 (Max
Farrand, ed., Yale University, 1966) (hereinafter “1
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These executive rights included the powers of peace and war. The Articles of
Confederation had given that power to the Continental Congress. The French
philosopher Montesquieu, the British philosopher John Locke, and Judge William
Blackstone had stated that the power to make war and peace belonged to the
executive.” In light of these authorities, the Virginia Plan appeared to give the
newly created President the power both to declare and conduct war.

The discussion that followed 1s memorialized in Max Farrand’s The

Records of the Federal Convention of 1787, a compilation of several of the
Delegates notes.’ Charles Pinckney of South Carolina immediately objected to
assigning the war power to the President. Pinckney “was for a vigorous Executive
but was afraid the Executive powers of the existing Congress might extend to
peace & war &c., which would render the Executive a monarchy, of the worst
kind, to wit an elective one.”

Three other delegates objected to the Virginia Plan’s allocation, including

Farrand/Records”).

2 Charles Louis de Secondat, Baron Montesquieu, Spirit of the Laws,
bk. I1, ch. 6 (Thomas Nugent trans., 1949 [1748]); John Locke,
Second Treatise on Civil Government, §§ 144-148; 1 William
Blackstone, Commentaries, Book 7, III;

3 1 Farrand/Records at 64-68.

19



Case: 09-2781 Document: 00319899931 Page: 30  Date Filed: 11/12/2009

John Rutledge, who “said he was for vesting the Executive power in a single
person, tho’ he was not for giving him the power of war and peace.” Roger
Sherman of Connecticut agreed with Rutledge: ““ he considered the Executive
magistracy as nothing more than an institution for carrying the will of the
Legislature into effect . . . which was the depositary of the supreme will of the
Society.”

James Wilson of Pennsylvania:

did not consider the Prerogatives of the British Monarch as a proper

guide in defining the Executive powers. Some of these prerogatives

were of Legislative nature. Among others that of war & peace &c.

The only powers he conceived strictly Executive were those of

executing the laws, and appointing officers. *
Every delegate who spoke to the issue agreed that the President should not be
given the powers of “war and peace.” The members of the Convention were well
aware that public sentiment had turned against the concept of a hereditary king
with the prerogatives held by the British monarch and were determined to keep the

President’s hands off the powers of war.®

Because none of the Delegates spoke in favor of allowing the President to

! Id. at 65-66.

3 Bernard Bailyn, To Begin the World Anew: The Genius and
Ambiguities of the American Founders 107-09 (Alfred A. Knopf
2003).
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take the Nation to war, James Madison “accordingly moved that so much of the
clause before the Committee as related to the powers of the Executive should be
struck out.” Still, Madison did not give up his effort to enable the President to
declare war and he tried to create the possibility that the President could obtain the
power to declare war through an act of Congress. He proposed that the new
Constitution authorize Congress to delegate to the President “other powers (‘not
Legislative nor Judicial in nature’).” The motion, if successful, would have
enabled Congress to delegate decisions on “peace and war” to the President. This
motion was rejected by a vote of the Delegates.® Ultimately, the Convention
retained only that part of the Virginia Plan giving the executive “power to carry
into execution the national laws.” Madison’s failure clearly demonstrated that the
AUMF was an ultra vires attempt by Congress to delegate the power to attack Iraq
to the President.

The Constitutional Convention continued to clarify the powers of the new
government through the summer of 1787. In late July, the Convention created a
Committee on Detail to organize its tentative decisions. The Committee reports on
August 6 assigned the power to “make war” to Congress, thus adopting the

position taken by the various speakers on June 1. The report became the

6 1 Farrand/Records at 68.
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framework for the remaining discussion on the War Powers by the convention.’
On August 17, 1787, the Convention arrived at the portion of the committee
report that concerned the war power. As reported in Volume Il of Farrand’s
Records, the committee report assigned the power to Congress, using the language
“make war.”® The phrasing bothered some of the delegates, including Pinckney,
who had opposed assigning the power to the President on June 1, because “its
[Congress’] proceedings were too slow.” In response, Pierce Butler of South
Carolina resurrected the original proposal from the Virginia Plan and argued for
vesting the “make war” power in the President. Butler was alone among the fifty-
five delegates in suggesting that war power vest with the President. Elbridge Gerry
of Massachusetts highlighted the inconsistency of Butler’s proposal with the
Convention’s consensus on June 1: “I never expected to hear in a republic a
motion to empower the executive alone to declare war.” Roger Sherman of
Connecticut supported this objection and also addressed the substance of
Pinckney’s concern: “The executive should be able to repel and not commence

war.” Butler’s proposal was subsequently rejected.

7 The Records of the Federal Convention of 1787 Vol. II, 313, 318-19
(Max Farrand, ed., Yale University, 1966) (hereinafter “2
Farrand/Records”).

8 2 Farrand/Records at 318.
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Madison saw that Pinckney had identified a serious problem in the language
of the text. The phrase, “make war” was not satisfactory because it confused the
responsibilities of each branch in regards to fighting wars. Because the concept of
separation of powers had become one of the foundations of the new government, it
became necessary to break down the components of the phrase, “make war.” These
components included the declaration of war and its subsequent conduct. Madison
and Gerry proposed to solve the dilemma by replacing the word “make” with
“declare,” thus assigning to Congress the power to declare war. This change in
language recognized the reality that the decision to go to war and the subsequent
military activities were separate events. Madison’s change allowed the Executive
the discretion to repel sudden attacks. George Mason of Virginia explained that
denying the President the power to Declare War, would have the appropriate
effect, of “clogging rather than facilitating war, but for facilitating peace.” The
Convention approved the usage of “declare” by an 8-1 vote.’

Thus, in line with the June 1 debate, the August 17 discussion assigned the
power to Declare War to Congress. The effect of replacing “make war” with
“declare war,” was to allow the President to repel attacks in the face of sudden

hostilities. Otherwise, the decision to use military force against another nation

? 2 Farrand/Records at 319.
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belonged to Congress.

This understanding of the war power was clear to the representatives who
explained the new Constitution to their state ratifying conventions. James Wilson,
speaking to Pennsylvania’s ratifying convention, emphasized the importance of
the Declaration of War procedure:

This system will not hurry us into war; it is calculated to guard

against it. It will not be in the power of a single man, or a single body

of men, to involve us in such distress; for the important power of

declaring war is vested in the legislature at large: this declaration

must be made with the concurrence of the house of representatives:

from this circumstance we may draw a certain conclusion that nothing

but our national interest can draw us into a war.'

Wilson’s premise, similar to that of the other Founders, was that the congressional
Declaration of War would be pronounced before hostilities began.

The President’s military authority was limited. Outside the narrow
circumstance of having the discretion and flexibility to repel sudden attacks, the
President’s role as commander-in-chief regarded the conduct of wars declared by

Congress. The necessary first-step was a congressional Declaration of War.

Alexander Hamilton clarified the presidential war responsibilities:

10 The Debates in the Several State Conventions on the Adoption of the
Federal Constitution as Recommended by the General Convention at
Philadelphia in 1787, Vol. II, 528 (Jonathan Elliot, ed., J. B.
Lippincott Co. 1941).
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[It] would amount to nothing more than the supreme command and

direction of the military and naval forces, as first General and
admiral of the Confederacy; while that of the British king extends to
the declaring of war and to the raising and regulating of fleets and
armies, - all which, by the Constitution under consideration, would
appertain to the Legislature.

The Federalist No. 69. Thomas Jefferson had sounded a similar note in his letter to

James Madison, while serving as Ambassador to France, extolling the Convention
for creating, “an effectual check to the Dog of War by transferring the power of
letting him loose from the Executive to the Legislative body, from those who are
to spend to those who are to pay.”'' This separation and limitation on the President
was the intent of the Constitution’s Framers. A court can use this intent to
determine whether the offensive hostilities in [raq were in fact initiated following
correct constitutional procedure.

2. The June 1 discussion has not been considered by a Federal
Appellate Court reviewing the war powers in modern times

The proceedings of June 1, 1787, where the Constitutional Convention
agreed that the President was not to have the power to make war, has never been
considered by a Federal appellate court. These include the pivotal cases

concerning the Vietnam War in the 1960's and 1970's. See e.g., Massachusetts v.

Laird, 451 F. 2d 26. Massachusetts v. Laird referred in only one sentence to the

! The Papers of Thomas Jefferson, 397 (Julius P. Boyd ed., 1955).
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August 17" debate, id. at 32, (completely ignoring the June 1 debate), and
subsequent Federal courts have erroneously followed it. Their failure to find and
consider the June 1 debate skewed their perception of the Founders’ intent
regarding the authority to Declare War. The record of the June 1 discussion
provides compelling evidence that the President was denied that authority.

3. The 19th Century War Powers cases in the Supreme Court reflect
the Convention’s interpretation of the War Power

In the years following the adoption of the Constitution, the Supreme Court
issued decisions that were consistent with the Founders’ perspective on June 1,
1787 that the power to commence hostilities rested with Congress alone. Nor did
they avoid the issue with technical doctrines, such as standing and “political
question.” The first meaningful definition of the “war” power was announced in
1800 in Bas v. Tingy, 4 U.S. 37 (1800). Justice Bushrod Washington defined war
as, “[e]very contention by force between two nations in external matters, under the
authority of their respective governments.” Id. at 40. After defining the concept of
war broadly, the Justices distinguished between “perfect” war and “imperfect,” or
“limited,” war. Id. In a perfect war, “one whole nation is at war with another whole
nation; and a// the members of the nation declaring war, are authorized to commit
hostilities against all the members of the other, in every place, and under every
circumstance.” Id. In an imperfect war:

26



Case: 09-2781 Document: 00319899931 Page: 37  Date Filed: 11/12/2009

Hostilities may subsist between two nations more confined in its

nature and extent; being limited as to places, persons, and things; and

this is more properly termed imperfect war . . . because those who are

authorized to commit hostilities, act under special authority, and can

go no farther than to the extent of their commission.

Id. This was the first judicial recognition that the term “war,” as used in the
Constitution, contained two subdivisions that were both subject to the direction of
Congress. First, formal war required a Declaration to engage in hostilities. Second,
imperfect, or limited, war is confined in its nature and extent by Congress to allow
presidents to use military force in a manner Congress defined.

The first presidents conformed their behavior to this understanding of the
Constitution’s allocation of the war power.'* Congressional enactments from
1798-1800 concerning naval hostilities during the Quasi-War with France placed
strict limits on the President in limited wars. For example, the duration of
presidential authority under the act establishing the embargo on French commerce
was limited to “the end of the next session of Congress, and no further.” And the
President was “authorized” to seize armed French vessels “on the high seas,” but

not within French waters. Bas, 4 U.S. at 37. President John Adams carried out the

specific Congressional instructions as to the scope and duration of hostilities. It

12 Louis Fisher, Presidential War Power, 17-39 (2d ed. University of
Kansas Press 2004).
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was clear that in limited war scenarios, the President had to comport his action
with the will of Congress; the President does not have de facto authority to act as
if he can Declare War and define the boundaries of his discretion. Only Congress
possesses that authority.

The Bas opinion created a dual track where Congress could choose either to
Declare War or to adopt a more specific and limited approach to hostilities. If
Congress specified that there should be a limited deployment of military force and
authority, then the President was required to abide by that limitation. Bas, 4 U.S. at

40. In Little v. Bareme, the Court ruled that President Jefferson exceeded the

boundaries of his war-making authority when he empowered privateers to detain
merchant ships sailing from French ports. 6 U.S. 170, 178 (1804). Chief Justice
John Marshall determined that the President had exceeded his discretion because
the Congressional act suspending discourse between the United States and France
only permitted the President to order the detention of ships sailing fo French Ports.
Id. at 177. It follows logically that the President did not and still does not have the
authority to engage in hostilities with another foreign nation without the direction
of Congress.

These principles were repeated in the Civil War Prize Cases, 67 U.S. 635

(1863). The case involved an 1861 order by President Lincoln to seize ships
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attempting to avoid the Union blockade of Confederate ports. The various
opinions in the case highlight the critical differences between perfect and limited
wars. Justice Greer’s majority opinion addressed the threshold question whether
“at the time this blockade was instituted, a state of war existed which would justify
a resort to these means of subduing the hostile force.” Id. at 666. He wrote:

By the Constitution, Congress alone has the power to declare a
national or foreign war. . . . [The President] has no power to initiate or
declare war against a foreign nation or a domestic state. But by
[statute], he is authorized to called [sic] out the militia and use
military and naval forces of the United States in case of invasion by
foreign nations, and to suppress insurrection against the government
of a state or of the United States.

Id. at 668. The five member majority found that the President’s actions had been
authorized by Congress to respond to armed insurrection. The dissenting Justices
were even more restrictive of presidential authority. They found that the
Congressional authorizations did not sanction the President’s actions:

[Before an] insurrection against the established Government can be

dealt with on the footing of civil war . . . it must be recognized or

declared by the war-making power of the Government. . . . [There] is

no difference in this respect between a civil or a public war. . . . This

great power over the business and property of the citizens is reserved

to the legislative department by the express words of the Constitution.

It cannot be delegated or surrendered to the Executive. Congress

alone can determine whether war exists or should be declared.
Id. at 688-93 (Nelson, J., dissenting). In a 1968 case, Justice William O. Douglas,

dissenting from denial of certiorari, highlighted the fact that none of the Justices
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deciding the Prize Cases disputed the fact that a war against a foreign nation

required a congressional declaration. McArthur v. Clifford, 393 U.S. 1002 (1968)

(Douglas, J., dissenting). He suggested that the majority opinion, upholding the
constitutionality of Lincoln’s actions, would have been decided differently “if
Lincoln had had an expeditionary force fighting a war overseas.” Id.

The Prize Cases support the conclusion that President Bush’s
commencement of the war in Iraq was unconstitutional. As the language of the
Prize Cases majority makes clear, the invasion of a foreign nation constitutes a
foreign war, which equates to a formal or perfect war. Justice Greer highlights the
fact that such a circumstance would require a Congressional Declaration. By this
standard, President Bush’s invasion of Iraq did not follow constitutional
procedure.

It is true that in the post-World War 11 era, courts have appeared to
authorize the United States to wage “wars” without a Congressional Declaration.
But, as Justice Scalia recently noted, analyses of the Constitution written long
after its adoption “do not provide as much insight into its original meaning as

earlier sources.” District of Columbia v. Heller, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 2810 (2008).

These earlier sources, including the 19™ Century cases and the Convention debate,

provide strong evidence that the original understanding of the Declare War clause
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was that a Congressional Declaration was necessary to commit the Nation to war.

Moreover, none of the post-World War II cases involved an unprovoked
attack on a sovereign nation akin to the current war in Iraq. In both the Korean and
the Vietnam Wars, the United States intervened to aid an ally repelling foreign
invaders. Thus, these conflicts were, by 19" Century standards, limited or
imperfect. By 19" Century standards, the invasion of Iraq did not follow
constitutional procedures because Congress did not direct its initiation. The
Constitutional Convention debates and the 19" Century cases make clear that such
hostilities require a formal Declaration. The post-World War II cases are not on
point to this issue either legally (they ignore the Convention’s history) or factually.
Even the first [raq “war” was a limited engagement, limited to expelling invading
Iraqi forces from Kuwait. The first President Bush did not authorize the invasion
of Iraq.

In this case, it appears that arrogation by the President has effected a drastic
structural alteration of constitutional powers, contradicting the Founders’ clear
intent with regard to the authority to Declare War. It is urgent that the judiciary not
refrain from its Article III obligation to protect the separation of powers. In
Marbury, Chief Justice Marshall wrote that “where a specific duty is assigned by

law, and individual rights depend upon the performance fo that duty, it seems
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equally clear that the individual who considers himself injured, has the right to
resort to the laws of this country for a remedy.” 5 U.S. at 166.

Plaintiffs have set forth substantial evidence that the Constitution assigns
Congress alone the power to Declare War. They have also shown that a judicially
manageable standard exists to determine whether the power has been encroached
upon. Plaintiffs respectfully ask that the judicial branch carefully examine the
evidence and determine whether the decision to engage in foreign wars be made
by Congress and not the President. This determination is well within a court’s
prerogative and responsibility.

4. Article I, Section 5 of the Constitution requires that members of
Congress be publicly accountable for the decision to go to war

Only one week before the August 1787 discussion of the war powers," the
following provision was proposed as Article I, §5 of the Constitution:

Each House shall keep a journal of its proceedings, and from time to

time publish the same, excepting such parts as may in their Judgment

require Secrecy; and the Yeas and Nays of the Members of either

House on any question shall, at the Desire of one fifth of those

Present, be entered on the Journal.

The Declare War clause falls within this principle that congressional proceedings

be available to the public. As the keystone of legislative accountability, the public

13 2 Farrand/Records at 257-60.
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record of legislators’ votes allows citizens to know how their representatives vote
and to judge them accordingly.

This principle of public participation made clear that the issue of war was a
public matter to be debated by the Nation, not decided in executive chambers."
James Wilson of Pennsylvania summed up the brief debate at the Convention
concerning this transparency requirement:

The people have a right to know what their Agents are doing or have

done, and it should not be in the option of the Legislature to conceal
their proceedings."

Alexander Hamilton also emphasized the public interest in representatives’
actions on military matters, explaining that members of Congress would be
required “to declare their sense of the matter [of a standing army], by a formal vote

in the face of their constituents . ..” The Federalist No. 26 (emphasis added). As

long as each legislator must act “in the face of their constituents,” Hamilton
expected the citizenry, the political process, and the states to assure that Congress
would function as a guardian of citizens’ rights under the Constitution to be free
from presidential misuse of the military. By delegating the decision to the

President, the 2002 AUMF violates citizens’ rights to know how their

14 2 Farrand/Records at 257-60.
15 1d. at 260.
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representatives voted on the issue of taking the Nation to war, just as surely as if

their individual decisions had been made in secret.'®

5. Neither the President nor members of Congress can be held
democratically accountable if Congress delegates to the President
the question of whether to launch a full-scale war against a
sovereign power
The 2002 AUMF was signed into law by President Bush on October 16,
2002. Pursuant to the “Authorization” section of the AUMF, “[t]he President is
authorized to use the Armed Forces of the United States as he determines to be
necessary and appropriate in order to (1) defend the national security of the
United States against the continuing threat posed by Iraq; and (2) enforce all
relevant United Nations Security Council resolutions regarding Iraq.” Pub. L. No.
107-243, §3(a), 116 Stat. 1498, 1501 (2002) (emphasis added).

It is hard to imagine a more glaring example of why the Founders insisted

that before the Nation can go to war, there must be a clear, public Declaration by

10 The last Paragraph in Article 1, §7 requires “every order, resolution,
or vote to which the concurrence of the Senate and House of
Representatives may be necessary,” must go through the same process
as a bill that is moving toward becoming law. Thus it would be
referred to Committees in each house which might hold hearings,
collect information and evidence, prepare a report and
recommendation to the House and Senate. Each branch would
consider and vote separately. When they agreed on language, the bill
would be presented to the President, and would become law when
signed.
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the members of Congress to which they can be held accountable by their
constituents. They are not allowed to pass the buck to the President. The
consequence is vividly demonstrated by the 2008 presidential campaign in which
candidates vigorously debated the meaning and consequence of the AUMF, and
often hid behind its ambiguity. In the January 31, 2008 Democratic debate,
Senator Hillary Clinton insistently denied that her vote in favor of the AUMF was

a vote to authorize the War in Iraq:

He [President Bush] abused his authority; he misused that authority. |
warned at the time that it was not authority for a preemptive war. . . .
Nevertheless, he went ahead and waged one."”
Meanwhile, President Bush insisted that the attack on Iraq was fully authorized by
Congress.
But Congress may not delegate its war-making power to the President in
ways that conflict with the basic structure of the Constitution. The concern for

voters’ ability to hold officials accountable is crucial with respect to federalism

and separation of powers issues. See New York v. United States, 505 U.S. 144

(1992). There, the Court considered the constitutionality of several provisions of

17

Clinton, Obama debate with less finger-pointing, CNNPolitics.com,
Feb. 1, 2008,
http://www.cnn.com/2008/POLITICS/01/31/debate.main/index.html .

35



Case: 09-2781 Document: 00319899931 Page: 46  Date Filed: 11/12/2009

the Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Act. Id. at 168. While the Court upheld
provisions of the Act that gave monetary and access incentives to the states to
comply with the Act, it found unconstitutional the Act’s “take title” provision,
which required states to accept ownership of waste or regulate according to the
instruction of Congress. The Court reasoned that “[w]here Congress encourages
state regulation rather than compelling it, state governments remain responsive to
the local electorate’s preferences; state officials remain accountable to the people.”
Id.

Since the State can choose whether or not to conform to the Act, the voters
ultimately decide whether or not the state will comply. However, when the Federal
Government requires States to regulate, the accountability of federal as well as
state officials is diminished. The Court explained that where the Federal
Government compels states to take certain actions, the state officials would face
public disapproval, while the federal officials who compelled the actions would be
shielded from “electoral ramifications.” Id. The Court concluded that
accountability i1s diminished when officials are not responsible to their
constituents.

“The Constitution’s division of power among the three branches is violated

where one branch invades the territory of another, whether or not the encroached-
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upon branch approves the encroachment.” Id. at 182 (citing Buckley v. Valeo, 424

U.S. 1, 118-37 (1976)). The Court reasoned that state officials cannot consent to
the enlargement of the powers of Congress beyond those enumerated in the
Constitution. New York, 505 U.S. at 182. The Court noted that, “it is likely to be
in the political interest of each individual official to avoid being held accountable
to the voters the choice of location [of low-grade waste].” Id. If a federal official
was able to force state officials to decide where to dump waste, they would do so
to shift the responsibility for the decision. Id. at 183.

In Printz v. United States, the Court followed the reasoning in New York

that delegations of power that blur the lines of accountability are unconstitutional.
521 U.S. 898 (1997). The Court invalidated provisions of the Brady Handgun
Violence Prevention Act requiring state and local law enforcement officers to
perform background checks on prospective handgun purchasers. Id. at 902-03. The
Court concluded that accountability is diminished when officials are not
responsible to their constituents. Id. at 933. The Court rejected the Government’s
argument that the case was distinguishable from New York because it involved
merely enforcing the law, as opposed to the making-law requirement in the Act in

New York. Id. at 927.
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The Court reasoned that by requiring states to absorb the financial costs of
implementing a federal regulatory program, “members of Congress can take credit
for ‘solving’ problems without having to ask their constituents to pay for the
solutions with higher federal taxes.” Id. at 930. Additionally, even if the States did
not have to pay, they would be blamed for the defects and the burdensomeness of
the requirements. Id. As Justice Antonin Scalia noted in a recent law review
commentary:

[The Brady Act] would allow Congress and the President to evade

apparent responsibility for (not to mention the cost of) enforcing

unpopular federal mandates. As a matter of separation of powers,

commandeering state law enforcement officers would enable

Congress to avoid the essential check that the laws it enacts depend

for their execution upon the competing political branch of the

presidency.

Antonin Scalia, Symposium: Separation of Powers as a Safeguard of Federalism:

The Importance of Structure in Constitutional Interpretation, 83 Notre Dame L.

Rev. 1419, 1419-20 (2008).

Here, Congress’ delegation to the President of its power to Declare War
blurred the lines of accountability. As Senator Clinton noted, the President’s
actions went beyond what she thought she authorized under the AUMF.
Meanwhile, the President maintains that all of his actions with respect to Iraq were

authorized by Congress. As the Court reasoned in Printz and New York,
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delegations of power that blur the lines of accountability are impermissible. Here,
similar to New York, where the Court reasoned that officials would want to pass
on the responsibility for decisions to shield themselves from accountability from
the electorate, Congress and the President are trying shield themselves from
accountability by arguing that the other was responsible for the war.

As the Supreme Court held last term in Boumediene v. Bush, discussing the

Suspension Clause and separation of powers, “[t]he test for determining the scope
of [a] provision must not be subject to manipulation by those whose power it is
designed to restrain.” 128 S. Ct. 2229, 2259 (2008). Since the authority to Declare
War is expressly given to Congress in order to restrain the Executive, it cannot be
construed in a manner that would allow the Executive to manipulate the power.
Moreover, if Congress had been required to expressly decide on whether to
Declare War:

[t]hat deliberation might have revealed Iraq’s lack of complicity with

Al Quaeda and the nonexistence of the country’s alleged cache of

nuclear weapons. The members of Congress would have had to vote

specifically on going to war, which would have assured closer

scrutiny than they actually gave the question.

Mario Cuomo, How Congress Forgot Its Own Strength, N.Y. Times, Oct. 7, 2007.

The District Court should be instructed on remand to determine whether Article I,

§5 required a vote by Congress on the decision to invade Iraq.
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6. If Congress intended to delegate to the President the power to
take the Nation to war in Iraq, it was an impermissible delegation

While the non-delegation doctrine has been sharply limited in modern times,
where the Constitution clearly delegates a power exclusively to one branch, that
power may not be shared or re-delegated to another branch. For example, in

Clinton v. City of New York, the Court found that the President’s exercise of

power under the Line Item Veto Act violated the Presentment Clause by departing
from “finely wrought” constitutional procedure for the enactment of a law. 524
U.S. 417, 439-40 (1998). The Supreme Court required Congress and the President
to follow strictly the language of the Constitution concerning the passage of a law.
The President and Congress had agreed to allow the President to veto individual
budget items after budget legislation had been passed. However, the Court held
the line item veto act invalid because it was inconsistent with the method in the
Constitution for Congress and the President to adopt a law. Justice Stevens wrote
for the majority:

The procedures governing the enactment of statutes set forth in the

text of Article I were the product of the great debates and

compromises that produced the Constitution itself. Familiar historical

materials provide abundant support for the conclusion that the power

to enact statutes may only ‘be exercised in accord with a single, finely

wrought and exhaustively considered, procedure.’

Id. (citation omitted).
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If the October AUMEF is read as entrusting to the President alone the
authority to perform the policy-determination and the moral decision-making that
the Framers intended the full Congress to accomplish, the resolution will involve
“encroachment,” an unrecoverable surrender of congressional power, and will also
involve enormous “aggrandizement” of presidential power. Entrusting such
decision-making power to the President in the context of the present case — where
the President is asserting determination to use that power in an unprecedented
fashion, for offensive war of an extraordinary kind — would profoundly alter the
constitutional structure. The disastrous consequences cannot be overstated.
“Liberty 1s always at stake when one or more of the branches seek to transgress the
separation of powers.” Clinton, 524 U.S. at 450 (Kennedy, J., concurring). Never
could liberty be more threatened than when the President, or Congress, or both
together would alter the separation governing the most momentous and dangerous
of the constitutional powers.

The Constitution cannot be amended by persistent evasion. Thus, the
mandate that only Congress has the power to Declare War was neither erased nor
modified by the actions or inactions of timid Congresses that allowed overeager
presidents to engage in wars in Vietnam and elsewhere without making a

Declaration. See Mario Cuomo, supra, New York Times, Oct. 7, 2007.
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In INS v. Chadha, the Supreme Court insisted that constitutional standards

be applied as “law” regardless of the fact that Congress and the President agreed to
the contrary:

No policy underlying the political question doctrine suggests that

Congress or the Executive or both acting in concert and in

compliance with Art. I, can decide the constitutionality of a statute;

that is a decision for the courts. . . . The assent of the Executive to a

bill which contains a provision contrary to the Constitution does not

shield it from judicial review. . . .
462 U.S. 919, 941-42 (1963). Because the Declare War clause is a constitutional
mandate, the District Court should determine whether that rule must be applied in

this case.

7. Congressional funding does not demonstrate Congressional
authorization for war

Defendants below relied on the fact of Congressional funding of military
operations in Iraq as proof that Congress had authorized the war. But the claim
that congressional appropriations equals congressional approval of war was
sharply repudiated by two eminent Federal Judges, Charles Wyzanski and David
Bazelon:

This Court cannot be unmindful of what every school boy knows: that

in voting to appropriate money . . . a Congressman is not necessarily

approving of the continuation of war no matter how specifically the

appropriation . . . refers to that war. A Congressman wholly opposed

to that war’s commencement and continuation might vote for the
military appropriations . . . because he was unwilling to abandon
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without support men already fighting. An honorably, decent,
compassionate act of aiding those already in peril is no proof of
consent to the actions that placed and continued them in that
dangerous posture. We should not construe votes cast in pity and
piety as though they were votes freely given to express consent.

Mitchell v. Laird, 488 F.2d 611, 615 (D.C. Cir. 1973).

The trial court must decide whether Congress had either the authority or the
ability to delegate to the President the decision to invade Iraq.

II. PLAINTIFFS HAVE SUFFERED INJURIES THAT MAY BE
REDRESSED THROUGH AN AWARD OF DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT AND THEREFORE HAVE STANDING

The Founders certainly intended that the Declaration of War requirements
of the Constitution would be respected and enforced. As Alexander Hamilton
wrote:

There 1s no position that depends on clearer principles, than that
every act of a delegated authority, contrary to the tenor of the
commission under which it is exercised, is void. . . . To deny this
would be to affirm that the deputy is greater than his principal; . . .
that the representatives of the people are superior to the people
themselves; that men acting by virtue of powers may do not only what
their powers do not authorize, but what they forbid.

The Federalist No. 78. The debate at the state conventions drafting and ratifying

the new Constitution often stressed the power of the courts to insure that neither
Congress nor the Executive would usurp, or exercise power beyond that granted

by the Constitution.
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If Congress exceeds its powers, said George Nicholas in the Virginia
Convention, “the judiciary will declare it void.” [Jonathan Elliot, The
Debates in the Several State Conventions on the Adoption of the
Federal Constitution as Recommended by General Convention at
Philadelphia in 1787, Vol. 111, 443 (J. B. Lippincott Co. 1941).]
Samuel Adams said in the Massachusetts convention that “any law . .
. beyond the power granted by the proposed constitution . . . [will be]
adjudged by the courts of law to be void.” 2 id. 131. Oliver Ellsworth
told the Connecticut convention that “a law which the Constitution
does not authorize” is void, and the judges “will declare it to be
void.” Id. 196. Similar statements were made by Wilson in
Pennsylvania, 2 id. 446, and by John Marshall in Virginia, 3 id. 553.

Raoul Berger, Standing to Sue in Public Actions: Is it a Constitutional

Requirement?, 78 Yale L. J. 816, 834 n.94 (1968-69).

While much of the original debate was framed in terms of the courts’ ability
to restrain congressional action, Marbury made it plain that the courts’ power
extended equally to executive acts and that such power was “deemed
fundamental” to a constitutional system. 5 U.S. at 176. As Chief Justice John
Marshall wrote:

To what purpose are powers limited, and to what purpose is that
limitation committed to writing, if these limits may, at any time, be
passed by those intended to be restrained? . . . The constitution is
either a superior, paramount law, unchangeable by ordinary means, or
it is on a level with ordinary legislative acts, and like other acts, is
alterable when the legislature shall please to alter it . . . [I]f the latter
part be true, then written constitutions are absurd attempts, on the part
of the people, to limit a power, in its own nature illimitable.

Id. at 176-77.
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The preceding argument of this brief has established that the Constitution’s
procedural requirements for the taking the Nation to war are among “those
fundamental rights and liberties which are, objectively, ‘deeply rooted in this
Nation's history and tradition,” and ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty,’
such that ‘neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed.””

Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 720-21 (1997) (Rehnquist, C.J.)

(internal citations omitted). Thus, the right to Declare War is entitled to judicial
protection.

Plaintiffs’ core claim is that they have standing to seek a Declaratory
Judgment because they are among “the People of the United States, [who] in Order
to form a more perfect Union” established a constitution that imposed explicit
procedural requirements that must be followed before the Nation’s lives and
treasure are expended to attack a sovereign foreign power and they have suffered
injuries because of President Bush’s violation of those requirements.

The Supreme Court has repeatedly made it clear that:

standing is not to be denied simply because many people suffer the

same injury. . . . To deny standing to persons who are in fact injured

simply because many others are also injured, would mean that the

most injurious and widespread Government actions could be

questioned by nobody.

Massachusetts v. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 549 U.S. 497, 526 n.24 (2007) (emphasis in
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original) (quoting United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency

Proceedings (SCRAP), 412 U.S. 669, 687-88 (1973)).

In Flast v. Cohen, the Supreme Court held that in cases where the injury is

widespread, the key to standing is the determination of “whether there is a logical
nexus between the status asserted and the claim sought to be adjudicated.” 392
U.S. 83, 102 (1968). In Flast, the Court established a two part test for determining
whether taxpayers had standing:

First, the taxpayer must establish a logical link between that status
and the type of legislative enactment attacked. Thus, a taxpayer will
be a proper party to allege the unconstitutionality only of exercises of
congressional power under the taxing and spending clause of Art. I, §
8, of the Constitution. . . . Secondly, the taxpayer must establish a
nexus between that status and the precise nature of the constitutional
infringement alleged. Under this requirement, the taxpayer must show
that the challenged enactment exceeds specific constitutional
limitations imposed upon the exercise of taxing and spending power
and not simply that the enactment is generally beyond the powers
delegated to Congress by Art. I, § 8. When both nexuses are
established, the litigant will have shown a taxpayer’s stake in the
outcome of the controversy and will be a proper and appropriate
party to invoke a federal court’s jurisdiction.

Id. at 102-03 (emphasis added).
The present Plaintiffs fully satisfy the requirements of Flast’s two-part test
for standing. First, since Congress has repeatedly enacted separate funding bills

explicitly designated for the War in Iraq, the taxing and spending clauses of
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Article I, §8 are plainly implicated.'® Second, there is a direct and obvious nexus
between those funding bills and Plaintiffs’ claim that unconstitutional procedures
were followed in initiating the War in Iraq. Indeed, that nexus is made plain by the
text of Article I, §8, Clause 11 itself, wherein the clause that gives Congress the
power “To Declare War” is immediately followed by the clauses granting the
power “To raise and support Armies” and “To provide and maintain a Navy.”
Thus, the straightforward application of Flast fully establishes Plaintiffs’ standing
as taxpayers to bring the present case. The nexus between taxpayers, funding the
military, and voters was clearly established by Alexander Hamilton in

The Federalist No. 26 when he explained that:

The legislature of the United States will be OBLIGED, by this
provision, once at least in every two years, to deliberate upon the
propriety of keeping a military force on foot; to come to a new
resolution on the point; and to declare their sense of the matter, by a
formal vote in the face of their constituents.

(Emphasis added).

Flast also establishes William Joseph Wheeler’s standing to directly

18 Thus, Hein v. Freedom From Religion Found, 551 U.S. 587 (2007) is
fully distinguishable because the spending in that case arose from a
general allocation to the Executive Branch rather than from an
explicit Congressional grant to the programs that were challenged.
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challenge the President’s failure to constitutionally deploy him there.'” Certainly,
Wheeler’s status as a soldier who suffered injury fighting in Iraq bears a “logical
nexus . . . [to] the claim sought to be adjudicated.” 392 U.S. at 102; see also

Massachusetts v. Laird, 451 F.2d 26, 29 (1st. Cir. 1971); Berk v. Laird, 429 F.2d

302, 311 (2d Cir. 1970). “[B]ecause the presence of one party with standing is
sufficient to satisfy Article III’s case or controversy requirement,” Wheeler’s

standing alone is sufficient to let the present case go forward. Rumsfeld v. Forum

for Academic and Institutional Rights, Inc, 547 U.S. 47, 52 n.2 (2006).%°

19 Thus, Common Cause v. Pennsylvania, 558 F.3d 249, 266 (3d Cir.
2009), Goode v. City of Philadelphia, 539 F.3d 311, 316 (3d Cir.
2008), and Russel v. DeJongh, 491 F.3d 130, 134 (3d Cir. 2007), are
fully distinguishable because this is not an instance where the
executive action amounts to “mere disobedience or flawed execution
of law,” but it is an instance where the Executive sent Wheeler and
his comrades to war in the complete absence of the required
Declaration of War.

20 . . .
NJPA can also assert independent standing because of its lost

opportunity costs as a result of having to redirect its resources and
energies away from its primary mission of advocating for nuclear
disarmament. See e.g., Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S.
363, 379 (1982); El Rescate Legal Servs., Inc. v. Executive Office of
Immigration Review, 959 F.2d 742 (9th Cir. 1991); Bellwood v.
Dwidevi, 895 F.2d 1521, 1526 (7th Cir. 1990) (“[t]he ‘opportunity
cost of such a diversion of resources is a sufficient injury to confer
standing on the organization on its own behalf.”), reh’g denied, No.
89-1229 (7th Cir. Mar. 2, 1990); Fair Hous. Council of Suburban
Philadelphia v. Montgomery Newspapers, 141 F.3d 71, 80 (3d Cir.
1998) (but narrowing the holding that such diversion of resources
does not apply to the pursuit of litigation alone); recons. denied, No.
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Plaintiffs claim that the Constitution’s procedural requirement that the
President obtain a formal Declaration of War from Congress before launching an
all-out war was breached. Where the procedural requirements of the Constitution
are at issue, a litigant “can assert that right without meeting all the normal

standards for redressability and immediacy.” Massachusetts v. Envtl. Prot.

Agency, 549 U.S. 497, 517-18 (2007) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife,

504 U.S. 555,573 n.7 (1992) (Kennedy, J. concurring)).

The Declaratory Judgment sought herein would likely prevent a recurrence
of the challenged presidential conduct. It would thereby provide these Plaintiffs
with redress for the injury they have suffered through vindicating the Fundamental
Constitutional Right that they claim. Plaintiffs are confident that the United States
government will do what it can to comply with a final decree and will thereby
undo as much of the damage arising from President Bush’s unconstitutional
conduct as is feasible.

The Supreme Court’s decision in Massachusetts v. Environmental.

Protection Agency, makes it plain that this is more than enough to satisfy the

96-1382 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 1, 1999); No. 99-114, slip op. (3d Cir. Dec.
23, 1999). See Interfaith Cmty. Org. v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc., 399
F.3d 248, 254, 257 (3d Cir. 2005)(“[A]n identifiable trifle is enough
[to establish standing]”).
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standing requirements:

When a litigant is vested with a procedural right, that litigant has
standing if there is some possibility that the requested relief will
prompt the injury-causing party to reconsider the decision that
allegedly harmed the litigant. [Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504
U.S. 555, 572 (1992)(Kennedy, J. concurring)]; see also Sugar Cane
Growers Cooperative of Fla.v. Veneman, 289 F. 3d 89, 94-95
(C.A.D.C. 2002) (““A [litigant] who alleges a deprivation of a
procedural protection to which he is entitled never has to prove that if
he had received the procedure the substantive result would have been
altered. All that is necessary is to show that the procedural step was
connected to the substantive result.”).

549 U.S. at 518.

Moreover, declaratory judgment should not be withheld where important
issues of public policy are involved and cannot otherwise be resolved. Professor
Borchard, the father of the Declaratory Judgment Act, stated that “a court exerts a
certain amount of judgment or discretion in determining whether a plaintiff or
defendant has a legal interest in contesting the validity of a statute or
administrative ruling. . . . [S]uch an interest . . . will be more readily perceived

when large public interests are at stake.” Declaratory Judgments 32 (Banks-

Baldwin Law Publishing Co., 2d ed. 1941).
Admittedly, the redress that Plaintiffs are capable of obtaining here is
limited and imperfect. The same is true, however, for the vast majority of cases.

Money damages cannot bring back a lost limb or a dead child. Money damages
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cannot undo the injury to a community when a business is ruined and forced to
close due to the anti-competitive conduct of another concern. Perfect justice is
unobtainable in this quotidian existence.

Constitutional standing doctrines, however, do not require perfect redress. It
is sufficient that there is some redress that a court can provide - something that is
certainly possible in the present case. Declaratory Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs
can return our nation to the original intention of Article I, §8, Clause 11. That
Constitutional Clause will thereby be re-enabled to serve its original intent, which
Thomas Jefferson described as providing “an effectual check to the Dog of War by

transferring the power of letting it loose from Executive to Legislative body, from

those who are to spend to those who are to pay.” The Papers of Thomas Jefferson,
397 (Julius P. Boyd ed., 1955). A return to the original Declare War Procedure
would reclaim the intent of the Founders and provide great redress to Plaintiffs.
Unstated in the District Court’s decision, but implicit in it reasoning, is the
radical proposition that absolutely no one has standing to bring the question raised
by this case at any time. Similarly unstated is the proposition that only Congress
can enforce its Article I duties, and that if Congress chooses to abdicate those
duties, then the People have no recourse, since none among them can ever satisfy

the pinched notions of standing that the District Court adopted.
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However, as this brief’s discussion of history has demonstrated, this plainly
1s not the law the Founders intended. The Founders recognized that the power to
launch a war upon a foreign sovereign nation is the most fearsome power held by
the United States. The Founders feared that power, and with good reason. War sets
aside all ordinary notions of law and instead unleashes death and destruction upon
every nation and person involved on a scale that is said to be unimaginable to
those who have not directly experienced it. The Founders, “We, the people of the
United States,” those who tried their best to “form a more perfect union, establish
Justice, insure domestic tranquility . . . and secure the Blessings of Liberty to
ourselves and to our posterity,” surely meant it when they wrote that only
Congress has the power “To Declare War.”

Accordingly, the Founders could never have intended to deprive the courts
of the power to declare the meaning of that clause due to twisted theories of
standing that make it impossible for anybody to prosecute a judicial challenge to
that fearsome power. This Court can redress that injury to the Founders’ intention
by recognizing Plaintiffs’ standing and by remanding this case to be heard and
decided on its merits.

Our Constitution was drafted by and for “The People.” Ordinary people like

Plaintiffs must fight the Iraq War and pay for it. They must also have standing to
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enforce the Constitution’s procedural limitations upon its having been undertaken.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this case should be remanded to the District

Court.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Frank Askin
Frank Askin

/s/ Bennet D. Zurofsky
Bennet D. Zurofsky,

Counsel for Plaintiffs gratefully acknowledge the assistance of the
following students enrolled in the Rutgers School of Law- Newark Constitutional
Litigation Clinic in the preparation of this brief: Julien Baumrin, Yael Bromberg,
Kelly Levy, Jonathan Peitz, and John Regina.
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commander-in-chief of the armed forces. U.S. Const. art. II, § 2, cl. 1. The two branches share
the broad array of war powers, and the Constitution allows them to work out disputes
themselves.

Given this textual commitment of “war powers” to the political branches, courts are
rightfully reluctant to act in the absence of an actual dispute between Congress and the President.

As Justice Jackson noted in Youngstown Sheet & Tube, there exists a “zone of twilight in which

[the President] and Congress may have concurrent authority, or in which its distribution is
uncertain..., In this area, any actual test of power is likely to depend on the imperatives of events

and contemporary imponderables rather than on abstract theories of law.” Youngstown Sheet &

Tube Co. v. Sawyer, 343 U.S. 579, 637, 72 S. Ct. 863, 871, 96 L. Ed. 1153 (1952) (Jackson, J.,

concurring). In this case, Congress deliberated and eventually passed the AUMF. Acting
pursuant to the AUMF, President Bush invaded Iraq. No dispute has arisen between Congress
and the President, and Plaintiffs make n.o such allegation. Rather, pursuanf to the Constitution’s
joint power-sharing arrangement as to “war powers,” the political branches have resolved this
foreign policy dispute. In the absence of any alleged dispute between them, this court must stand
down.

Plaintiffs attempt to avoid the “téxtual commitment” factor by arguing the merits ~
specifically, they claim that judicial abdication is unwarranted precisely because £he “Declare
War power is expressly committed by the text of the Constitution to Congress, not the
Executive.,” (Opp’n Br. 44.) This argument is unavailing. The power to declare war certainly
resides with Congress. U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 11. However, as the First Circuit noted, the

power to declare war does net imply the more general negative that “Congress has no power to
15-
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support a state of belligerency beyohd repelling attack and short of a declared war.” Mass. v.
Laird, 451 F.2d 26, 32 (1st Cir. 1971). Rather, while the power to declare war was textually
committed to Congress, “the power to conduct undeclared hostilities beyond emergency
defense...[was] committed to both branches, whose joint concord precludes the judiciary from
measuring a specific action against any specific clause in isdlation.” Id. The world of hostilities,
therefore, does not neatly break down into the categories of “war” and “not war.” Rather, the
political branches are empowered to conduct and maintain hostilities short of war and Congress
may determine whether and when a declaration of war is necessary. As Chief Judge Wyzanski,
in the District of Massachuseits, held, “the distinction between a declaration of war and a
cooperative action by the legislative and executive with respect to military activities in foreign

countries is the very essence of what is meant by a political question.” United States v. Sisson,

294 F. Supp. 511, 515 (D. Mass. 1968). It is not enough to assert that the power to declare war
resides with Congress and that therefore the judiciary is empowered to adjudicate any situation in
which hostilities have commenced to determine whether or not those hostilities are tantamount to
“war.” If this Court accepted Plaintiffs’ invitation to make that decision, it would have to be
prepared to fully measure every future instance of hostilities against the Constitution’s “declare
war” clause. This the Court 1s not prepared to do.

Importantly, the very act of second-guessing Congress’s decision not to declare war is
outside of the judiciary’s sphere of competence. A declaration of war triggers “treaty obligations

and domestic emergency powers.” Massachusetts v. Laird, 451 F.2d 26 at 32. “A determination

not to declare war is more than an avoidance of a domestic constitutional procedure. It has

international implications of vast dimensions.” Sisson, 294 F. Supp. at 515. Rather than leaving
16
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to Congress the issue of whether to declare war and thereby invoke various corresponding
obligations, Plaintiffs would have this Court second-guess Congress’s decision to authorize
something short of “war.” This is plainly not the judiciary’s role. As a three-judge panel in
Atlee noted:

Because the Constitution has given to Congress, and not the coﬁrts, the initial

policy determinations whether to declare war formally and, if not, what steps to

take short of formal declaration, we are bound not to enter the realm of foreign

policy committed to another branch of government by adjudicating this question

on the merits.
Atlee v. Laird, 347 F. Supp. at 706. Congress is fully-equipped to analyze the treaties, po]icy
considerations, and accompanying obligations that would follow from a declaration of war and to
choose a separate path accordingly. The fact that the United States is engaged in military action
absent a declaration of war does not automatically invite the judiciary’s analysis as to whether
that action is “constitutionally sanctioned.”

Finally, even if this matter were not textually committed to the political branches, the
Court is presented with no set of judicially manageable standardslthat would alloxév it to
determine whether indeed the United States was, or is, at war. To resolve Plaintiffs’ dispute, the
Court would have to propound a rational list of factors analyzing whether the country is actually
at war, or whether it is engaging in some form of hostilities short of war. See, e.g., Atlee, 347 F.
Supp. at 705 (“[plerhaps in ’1787 it was possible to weight a given set of factors and decide
whether particular hostilities constituted war. However, the variety of hostilities possible in
1972, makes the formulétion of rational standards a task not met for the judiciary.”). Not only is

Congress better-equipped to make that determination, but under Baker, it is a determination that

is inherently fraught with a lack of judicially applicable standards.
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The simple fact of the matter is that Plaintiffs ask this Court to adjudicate an issue that is
textually committed to Congress and the President. In the absence of an actual dispute between
the political branches, this Court cannot intervene. The issues raised are barred by the political
question doctrine, and thus the suit must be dismissed.

IV. Conclusion

Having evéluated the arguments in favor of and against dismissal of the present suit, the
Court find that Plaintiffs’ claims are not justiciable. They have failed to clear the standing
requirements of Article IIl and equally important, the issues raised by the Amended Complaint
fall squarely within the political quéstion doctrine. Accordingly, Defendant’s motion to dismiss
is granted.

An appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion.

Dated: June 2, 2009 s/ Jose L. Linares
‘ United States District Judge
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